1962

# Richard Jacques v. Dallas Farrimond : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action to recover damages for loss of eye, kidney, one-half of his liver, and other serious personal injuries by boy plaintiff.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

A jury in District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, awarded \$20,000.00 general damages in a special verdict. District Judge A. H. Ellett entered a verdict of "No Cause of Action" by reason of the jury answering "Yes" to a special interrogatory which asked, "Did Richard Jacques voluntarily assume the risks incident

to the manner in which Dallas Farrimond was driving the car insofar as intoxication *and* wilful misconduct were concerned?"

A motion for a new trial was denied.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

1. That jury's verdict be reinstated, or in the alternative,
2. That plaintiff be granted a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Richard Jacques, a 16 year old minor, was critically injured on January 4, 1961 when the defendant, Dallas Farrimond's, automobile, in which the plaintiff was riding in right rear seat as a guest, went out of control and sheared off a utility pole near 2085 Viewmont Drive in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. The vehicle was east bound on Viewmont Drive when it went out of control and skidded 124 feet, clipped a utility pole and then skidded sideways for an additional 67 feet. Farrimond, who is usually a careful driver and well acquainted with the area and road, never applied his brakes. (Tr. 184) The plaintiff, Richard Jacques, was riding in the right rear seat of the car which struck the pole and caused him to suffer the following injuries:

- a. Severe injury to his right side and both sides of his chest.
- b. Multiple severe scalp, face and eye lacerations, with total destruction of his right eye by a laceration which passed through the eyeball.

- c. Severe contusions of right lung, with multiple rib and costochondral fractures on both sides of his chest, resulting in partial rotation of the sternum.
- d. Fracture of right scapula and left sternal clavical joint.
- e. Severe multiple lacerations of the right lobe of the liver and colon.
- f. Destruction of right kidney, necessitating removal.
- g. Lacerations of right hand.
- h. Cerebral concussion.

The pertinent events leading up to a catastrophic collision commenced about 7:15 P.M. when the defendant, Dallas Farrimond, drove his 1955 Buick Super automobile to the plaintiff's home to pick him up. Immediately thereafter, Dwight Tolley, Dick Gorringer, Richard Rhead and George Ligeros were called for and Farrimond drove to the House of Pizza which is situated at 21st South and 9th East. Farrimond, Jacques, Rhead and Tolley all testified there was no drinking by Farrimond until he reached the House of Pizza and plaintiff's attorney made no claim to his prior drinking. (Tr. 245, Tr 177) At approximately 9:30 P.M., George Ligeros was given a bottle of gin which had two or three inches of gin in the bottom. Farrimond testified that Ligeros brought the gin out to his car where it was mixed with 76 mixer and consumed by Ligeros, Jacques and himself. The plaintiff, Jacques, denied drinking. The collision occurred at approximately 10:00 P.M.

Defendant Farrimond further testified that he met Arlene Huntzinger at the House of Pizza and was quite upset over the fact that she had driven there in another man's car; (Tr. 156, Tr 179) and further infuriated when told she expected to marry another man. (Tr 364) While this episode was going on, the other boys were outside engaged in a dough fight. Jacques had no knowledge whatsoever of any dispute between Farrimond and his girl friend. It was agreed that Farrimond was usually a careful driver. Arlene Huntzinger, his girl friend, left the House of Pizza first then Farrimond decided to go out to her home. Farrimond testified that the boys got in his car and drove down 9th East to 39th South, up 39th South to 13th East, out 13th East to 48th South, up 48th South to Viewmont Drive and southeast on Viewmont Drive to point of collision, which was within a hundred or so feet from the Huntzinger home. It is undisputed that Farrimond drove at excessive rates of speed (Tr 365) on 9th East. It is also undisputed that he favorably responded to protests made by (Tr 365, Tr 151) the guests and drove more carefully up to the time he commenced speeding down Viewmont Drive. (Tr 183, Tr 186, Tr 187, Tr 222) At this point Richard Rhead said, "Dallas, you won't make this corner going this fast." Farrimond disregarded the warning and the collision ensued. Farrimond admitted he was well-acquainted with the road (Tr 184) and the general area and had travelled it many times before.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT NUMBER ONE:

The trial court erred in formulating the special ver-

dict by requiring jury to find conclusions of law rather than ultimate conclusions of fact.

### POINT NUMBER TWO:

The trial court erred not finding as a matter of law in this case that the defense of assumption of risk cannot be used against wilful misconduct.

### POINT NUMBER THREE:

The trial court erred in instructing on negligence and contributory negligence when these matters were not in issue.

POINT NUMBER ONE: Examination of the interrogatories in the special verdict which was given to the jury by the court reveals the following matters: (Tr 81)

Question No. 1: Was Dallas Farrimond intoxicated immediately prior to the collision? Answer. Yes.

This was a question which would require an ultimate fact which could properly be answered by the jury. — The court continued — If so, was the intoxication a proximate cause of the collision? Answer. Yes.

The question of proximate cause will be reserved for a later argument and included in our general article.

Question No. 2. Immediately prior to the collision, was Dallas Farrimond guilty of wilful misconduct? Answer. Yes.

If so, was such wilful misconduct a proximate cause of the collision? Answer. Yes.



Question No. 3. During the trip and immediately prior to the collision, did Richard Jacques voluntarily assume the risks in the manner in which Dallas Farrimond driving the car in so far as the intoxication and wilful misconduct is concerned? Answer. Yes.

Question No. 4. During the trip immediately prior to the collision, did Richard Jacques encourage Dallas Farrimond to drive at an excessive rate of speed? Answer. No.

Question No. 5. Showing by the preponderance of the evidence of the case, what amount of money would fairly and adequately recompense Richard Jacques for any and all damages he has sustained as a result of the collision? (See Instruction No. 19.)

Answer. \$20,000.00.

It is the appellant's contention in this case that the two questions, one regarding wilful misconduct and the other regarding assumption of risk were in effect submitting to the jury a requirement of them to answer questions of law rather than ultimate questions of fact. The function of a special verdict with its interrogatories is to obviate sympathy verdicts in personal injury cases but in endeavoring to do away with said sympathy verdicts, the questions themselves should not become so onerous, so involved, so oppressive that the function itself is lost sight of and the reverse of what is intended happens and that justice itself is lost by the use of said special verdicts. It is admitted that it throws an unduly oppressive burden on the jury, even with instructions, to make definitive answers in connection with complex concepts of the law

such as wilful misconduct and assumption of risk where the courts themselves are, to a large extent, in a quandry as to exactly what they mean. There are extensive annotations in the American Law Reports on both issues that the fact that the jury was being confused by both of the concepts is indicated by these portions of the record:

On page 452 of the record at line 6, the court says: "I was about to call you in to talk to you about going to dinner. The bailiff suggested that you may have some questions. You can be seated if you wish to. Do you have a question that you would like to talk to me about?"

Then the court proceeds to answer the question made by the foreman of the jury, Mr. Alder, on line 24, as follows:

"MR. ALDER: We want to know about misconduct, the amount — whether a person voluntarily speeds is guilty of misconduct?"

Then we have an elaborate explanation by the court on line 18 of page 453 where the court proceeds to explain wanton misconduct:

"MRS. SAVILLE: Is wilful misconduct almost the same as wilfully wanting to kill somebody?"

Then there is another explanation of the court; that it doesn't mean exactly to kill someone; and so the colloquy proceeds, indicating that the jury is hopelessly lost in a maze of legal technicalities in connection with the concept of wilful misconduct.

With regard to the concept of assumption of risk, we find in the record on page 457 the following questions and answers: line 18.

"No. III. During the trip and immediately prior to the collision did Richard Jacques voluntarily assume the risks incident to the manner in which Dallas Farrimond was driving the car insofar as intoxication and wilful misconduct were concerned?" The answer is "Yes."

That is signed by Mrs. Saville, Mr. Shaw, Mr. Wilhelmsen, Mr. Driscoll, Mr. England, Mr. Pack, and Mr. Jackson. Let's see. Mr. Alder did not sign that. Beg pardon?

MR. ALDER: That may have been unintentional.

THE COURT: Did you mean to sign that?

MR. ALDER: Read that again.

THE COURT: "During the trip and immediately prior to the collision did Richard Jacques voluntarily assume the risks incident to the manner in which Dallas Farrimond was driving the car insofar as intoxication and wilful misconduct were concerned?"

MR. ALDER: We discussed that quite a bit, Judge, and we figured that he was not compelled to ride in that car, and in that way he was assuming the risk. Now, you can put my name on that if that is—

THE COURT: No, you will have to put your own. If under my instructions you think that he with knowledge of this trouble rode in that car, then he did assume the risk.

MR. ALDER: No one knew at that time when he was in the car that they were going to be in the wreck, but he was riding in the car wilfully and not being compelled is the way they decided this.

**THE COURT:** Of course, you can't explain your verdict after you are out. There can't be any explanations, but if there is any question, I want you to read my instruction on that.

Court proceeds to read his instruction.

Now it is true that the deliberations of the jury in connection with how they arrived at their verdict may not be a proper matter for the record, but it is a proper matter of the record for the Supreme Court of Utah to determine the confusion that is extant in the minds of the jury when they are actually called upon to determine questions of law riding under the guise of ultimate questions of fact.

It is further significant and interesting to note that the eagerness of the jury to please the trial judge, and the record reveals the friendliness of the trial judge with the jury; and it might be added as a sidenote that it is the function of a trial court to *formally* present the law to the jury, and that is all; and it is the function of the jury not to try to determine which way the judge is thinking concerning the facts, but to make the finding of fact themselves objectively.

**POINT NUMBER TWO:** So far as we can determine, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah has not determined the precise issue of whether assumption of risk can be used as a defense against wilful misconduct. It is alluded to in *Ferguson vs. Jongsma* 10 Utah 2nd 179. In that case, the distinction was made between contributory negligence and assumption of risk at page 190 it states that: "Contributory negligence is based

upon carelessness, inadvertence and unintended risk but assumption of risk requires an intelligent and deliberate choice to assume a known risk. Assumption of risk requires knowledge by plaintiff of a specific defect or dangerous condition caused by the defendants negligence or lacking of due care which the plaintiff could have voluntarily and deliberately avoided and thereby assumed the risks of injuries he sustained. On the other hand, contributory negligence requires evidence only that plaintiff failed to use the care for his own safety which an ordinary reasonable and prudent person could use under the existing circumstances."

In *Milligan vs. Harwood* 11 Utah 7 2nd 74 with regards to intoxication, it is stated on page 76: "Of course if the plaintiff would have known Harwood was intoxicated at the time they embarked on the journey, he would probably be in the position of having assumed the risk."

In the main annotation on this subject in American Law Reports, 44 ALR 2nd 1342, CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE, ASSUMPTION OF RISK, OR RELATED DEFENSES AS AVAILABLE IN ACTION BASED ON AUTOMOBILE GUEST STATUTE OR SIMILAR COMMON-LAW RULE, at page 1347 Section 3, ASSUMPTION OF RISK:

"In jurisdictions which recognize a rule of assumption of risk as distinct from the defense of contributory negligence, it has usually been held that this defense is available to an automobile host charged with wilful or wanton misconduct or recklessness, even though the

guest's contributory negligence might not bar his recovery." Citing California, Colorado, Connecticut and Florida cases and others.

It is further stated on page 1347 *supra*: "Asserting that the doctrine of assumption of risk was not restricted to cases where there was a contract relationship between the parties, and that, under certain circumstances, it might operate in the field of negligence, the court in *Freedman v. Hurwitz* (1933) 116 Conn 283, 164 A 647, said that when so applicable in negligence actions the principle was distinct from that of contributory negligence, and that therefore the fact that contributory negligence was not a defense to an action under the guest statute did not in itself prevent the defense of assumption of risk in a proper case. The court went on to say, however, that the doctrine operated in a strictly limited field, since it must be shown, in order to bar recovery thereunder, that the injured person had known or ought reasonably to have perceived that the risk existed and that unless he took steps to protect himself he would be liable to injury, and that the incurring of the risk must be really voluntary."

See also the *Restatement of Torts Sec. 482 and 503* (2) which provides that plaintiffs contributory negligence shall not bar recovery from harm caused by the defendants reckless disregard for plaintiffs safety, but that a plaintiff is barred from recovery from harm caused by defendants reckless misconduct if knowing of such misconduct and the danger to himself involved therein, the plaintiff *recklessly* exposes himself thereto (emphasis ours). This comment points out that the plain-

tiff is not barred by failure to exercise reasonable care after knowing that the recklessness conduct and the dangers involved therein. Now even by that form of negligence known as voluntarily assumption of risk, but only where he only knows of the reckless misconduct, but also realizes the gravity of the risk involved so that he is not only unreasonably, but recklessly exposing himself.

So it will be seen, then, that the doctrine enunciated in the American Law reports that the assumption of risk is a defense to wilful misconduct involves a particular and peculiar type of assumption of risk and that is where the conduct of the plaintiff himself equals or exceeds an indifference of recklessness or wanton conduct of the defendant. It will also be seen that it was the plaintiff's contention statement of facts that first: the defendant was intoxicated, which wasn't apparent to the plaintiff or to any of the others, and secondly, that the defendant had that night a personal clash with his girl friend and that he was in the process of trying to reach her home in the fastest way possible with the utmost disregard for the safety of his guests. Therefore, under the statement of facts that the most favorable view that the reviewing court could take in favor of the defendant that it was apparent that none of the guests in that automobile could have known of either (a) the intoxication of the defendant, or (b) his reckless state of mind existing, because of his argument with his girl friend.

**POINT NUMBER THREE:** To add to the welter of blundering confusion created by the trial court in this matter, the trial court pre-emptorily and in dis-

regard of a ruling by the judge at the pretrial — arbitrarily ruled and instructed upon negligence, contributory negligence, reasonable care, due care, ordinary care, all of which had no issue or bearing on the case which in turn added to the already confused minds of the jury. (Tr. 74)

## CONCLUSION

It will be seen from a review of the facts of law in this case that special scrutiny and attention must be paid to the whole concept of special verdicts. While it is true that the primary function is to have them determine the operative facts upon which the court can then draw legal conclusions in order to avoid sympathy verdicts, at the same time, it can be a double edged sword and the function and purpose for what it was devised can be a cutting tool to sever justice itself. It can become a tool to use to bewilder the minds of the jury with the end result is that it accomplishes the opposite of what it intends to do.

We submit that in the instant case that this is exactly what happened and therefore respectfully request that the decision be reversed and that the appellant herein be granted a new trial.