1962

Richard Jacques v. Dallas Farrimond : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The court of last resort of the State of Kentucky, the home of Bourbon Whiskey, has, as might be anticipated, had occasion to treat the problem here involved in many cases. That court, apparently fully acquainted with the frequent results of mixing gasoline and alcohol, has consistently and repeatedly affirmed the general principle that one who elects to ride with a driver known to have been drinking to a substantial extent, is barred from recovery if an accident ensues resulting in whole or in part from the driver's impaired condition. One of the earliest decisions was in the case of *Winston's Administrator v. City of Henderson*, 179 Ky. 220, 200 SW 330, where the court said at p. 332 of 200 S.W.:

“Winston and Nunnelly were associated together for some hours on the evening of the accident, and had been in and about restaurants and saloons together. . . Winston was fully acquainted with Nunnelly's intoxicated condition if he was intoxicated; *he knew all of the facts or had the opportunity of knowing them before he entered*

the car, and is therefore charged with that knowledge. * * *” (Emphasis ours.)

The principles there laid down have been consistently followed. In *Rennold's Administratrix v. Waggener*, 271 Ky. 300, 111 S.W. 2d 647, the court said at page 649 of 111 SW2d:

“It is an established rule in this jurisdiction that a person who enters an automobile as a guest with knowledge that the driver is intoxicated to an extent that renders him careless or indifferent to his own safety or the safety of others, or incompetent to properly operate the automobile, is guilty of contributory negligence, and that *the guest assumes the risks incident to the operation of the automobile by a driver in such condition.*

“It has been a subject of comment by this court that as a matter of common knowledge the use of intoxicants begets a spirit of recklessness and that their use to an appreciable degree of intoxication so disturbs the normal volitional and reflex powers as to render a driver of an automobile incapable of responding with the precision, judgment, and accuracy necessary to a proper and safe operation of an automobile.” (Emphasis ours.)

In *Makin's Adm'r. v. McLelland*, 279 Ky. 595, 131 S.W.2d 478, the court said:

“The principal controversy before us involves the question as to whether or not Jessie Makin knew that McLellan was drunk when she entered his car. If she did, she assumed the risk

when she got in the car to ride into Louisville with McLellan."

To the same effect see *Toppass v. Perkins*, 268 Ky. 186, 104 SW2d 423; *Spivey's Administratrix v. Hackworth*, 304 Ky. 141, 200 SW2d 131; *Spencer v. Boes*, 305 Ky. 573, 205 SW2d 150; *Irby v. Williams*, 313 Ky. 353, 231 SW2d 1; *Lewis v. Perkins*, 313 Ky. 847, 233 SW2d 985 and *Kavanaugh v. Myers' Administratrix*, (Ky.), 246 SW2d 461.

Another court which has had frequent occasion to pass on the same problem is that of Louisiana. In *Richard v. Canning*, (La. App.), 158 So. 598, 599, that court used language singularly appropriate to the case at bar:

"Canning's condition must have been obvious. He and Richard had been together for several hours, and though, at the various homes at which they had visited, they may have been separated for a few moments, they were sufficiently together for Richard to have become fully aware of the fact that his friend was imbibing freely of intoxicating liquors." (Emphasis ours.)

In the case of *Mercier v. Fidelity & Casualty Company* of New York, (La. App.), 10 So. 2d 262, 264, the court said:

"They [plaintiff and defendant] drank freely and continuously, each to the knowledge of the other, and both knew that they were under its

influence. . . Plaintiff had enough experience in life to discern when one was sober, or under the influence of liquor, and was thus able to appreciate danger and risk of continuing to drink and over-indulge with one whom he knew would operate the automobile in returning to their homes. *He knew, or should have known, that by excessive drinking, Furey would be deprived of his normal faculties and be unable to exercise the ordinary care and caution possessed by one when sober. He knew, or should have known, all of the facts, and had full opportunity of knowing them before continuing with his revelry. Their continued drinking was of sufficient importance to cause an apprehension of danger and an anticipation and realization of the peril in which he was voluntarily entering.* One cannot close his eyes to obvious danger, or entrust his safety absolutely to the driver of an automobile when the same knowledge of obvious or threatened danger is possessed by both. Experiencing the exhilaration and sensations incident to the swirl and dash of a mixture of intoxicating liquor and rapid transit, plaintiff assumed the risks of danger attendant thereto.* * *” (Emphasis ours.)

And in *Elba v. Thomas*, (La. App.), 59 So. 2d 732, 736, the same court said:

“This court can take judicial notice of what is common knowledge and human experience. Anyone who has indulged in alcoholic beverages knows that it dulls perception and reflexes to the extent that one cannot react normally to impending emergencies and dangers.”

To the same effect: *Livaudais v. Black*, (La. App.), 127 So. 129; *Clinton v. City of West Monroe*, (La. App.),

187 So. 561; *Willis v. City of West Monroe*, (La. App.), 187 So. 829; *Madden v. City of West Monroe*, (La. App.), 187 So. 829; and *Perritt v. City of West Monroe*, (La. App.), 187 So. 830.

In *Aycock v. Green*, (Tex. Civ. App.), 94 SW2d 894, 898, the court said:

“The record at large, raises the constantly recurring question of whether a willing and active participant, such as the decedent in this case, can be heard to complain of fortuitous circumstances occurring to him in an escapade of this nature, in which all the participants join, deliberately and voluntarily, with equal zest and with full knowledge of its possibilities for an unhappy ending. Our courts have many times held, with obvious reason, that in such cases a victim of the folly (or his unfortunate survivors) cannot recover of his fellow whom he had joined wholeheartedly in producing the very result which all had equal opportunity of foreseeing and avoiding.”

To the same effect see *Schiller v. Rice*, (Tex.), 246 SW2d 607, and *Mooneyhan v. Benedict*, (Tex. Civ. App.), 284 SW2d 741.

In *Hicks v. Herbert*, 173 Tenn. 1, 113 SW2d 1197, 1199, the court said in a case analogous to the one at bar:

“It was not necessary for the defendant, relying on plaintiff’s contributory negligence, to prove actual knowledge of defendant’s intoxication on the part of plaintiff. *If an ordinarily*

prudent man under the circumstances we have related would have regarded defendant as intoxicated and appreciated his condition, such knowledge and appreciation must be imputed to plaintiff.

“Plaintiff was in a position to see just as much of defendant and of defendant’s condition as were the other witnesses testifying in the case . . .

“We think the record discloses a case in which it appears ‘that reasonable men, acting as the triers of the fact, would find, without any reasonable probability of differing in their views, either that the plaintiff knew and appreciated the danger or that ordinarily prudent men, under the same circumstances would readily acquire such knowledge and appreciation. . .’” (Emphasis ours.)

See also *Schwartz v. Johnson*, 152 Tenn. 586, 280 SW2d 32.

A leading case from Iowa is *Garrity v. Mangan*, (Ia.), 6 NW2d 292. The court there said at p. 295:

“Although the distinction has been made by our courts at various times, it seems to us reasonable and clear that one who enters a car as a guest, knowing that the driver is under the influence of intoxicating liquor should be deemed to take his chances of an accident and resulting injury, and such has been the holding of various courts.

“In the instant case, under the evidence, the fact remains that defendant’s decedent was either

intoxicated or he was not. If not, there would be no cause of action. Under the uncontradicted evidence, *if he was intoxicated it must have been obvious to his companion, who was with him all the evening previous to the accident. . . ; the doctrine of assumption of risk would apply, and it would be held as a matter of law that the plaintiff's decedent assumed the risk of riding with a drunken driver. In either event, there could be no recovery.*" (Emphasis ours.)

In *Booth vs. General Mills*, 243 Ia. 206, 49 NW2d 561, the same court said :

"It is appellant's claim that at the time plaintiff entered defendant's car, just shortly before the fatal accident, he knew or should have known that Shocklee was intoxicated. Where the facts clearly show such a situation, there can be no recovery . . ."

See also *Helmig v. People's National Bank*, (Ia.), 220 NW 45.

In the West Virginia case of *Hurt v. Gwinn*, 95 SE2d 248, 251, the court said :

"The evidence before us leaves no doubt that the three persons who took the drive in defendant's automobile . . . to the place where the accident occurred, had been drinking intoxicating liquor prior to the commencement of the drive, *each having knowledge of the drinking by the others. . .* It is not questioned that *each of the three voluntarily entered into the venture of the drive and the hazards thereof. . .* It cannot be

doubted in such circumstances, that *each of the parties was fully cognizant of the hazards of such a drive from the time of commencement thereof*. A guest passenger voluntarily following such a course of known hazardous conduct, fraught with strong possibility of the very type of the accident which occurred, cannot be permitted to recover merely because she had no opportunity to escape injury after the accident began to take place — in the instant case after the automobile of defendant began to skid.” (Emphasis ours.)

In *Stekovich v. U. S.*, (M.D. Pa), 102 F. Supp. 925, 926, the court said :

“Where a passenger accompanies the driver of an automobile, *knowing of the driver's drinking*, and is injured through negligence of the driver, brought about by the alcohol he has taken, such passenger *assumes the risk* of voluntarily riding with him.” (Emphasis ours.)

In *Taylor v. Taug*, (Wash.), 136 P.2d 175, the Supreme Court of Washington said at page 180 :

“That the drinking of intoxicating liquor effectually destroys the faculties essential to safe driving is of such common knowledge that no one with sense will submit to the peril of riding with a driver who has recently consumed liquor. Any one who submits to that peril *assumes the risk attendant upon the journey* and is guilty of contributory negligence which precludes recovery. *Appellant was a high school graduate and certainly must have appreciated the danger of rid-*

ing in a car driven by one whom she had just seen drinking intoxicating liquor." (Emphasis ours.) And in conclusion the court further said at p. 180:

"Rem. Rev. Stat. Sec. 6360-119, provides: 'It shall be unlawful for any person to operate any vehicle upon the public highway of this state while under the influence of or affected by the use of intoxicating liquor . . .'"

"We have held that one driving in violation of this statute is guilty of negligence per se . . .

"By the same reasoning, we must hold that one who voluntarily rides with such a driver assumes the risk of the venture and contributes to the injury. This conclusion is borne out by the statement we have quoted from *Parker v. Taylor*, supra. *This accident was simply the aftermath of a drinking party, and while appellant did not drink intoxicating liquor, she certainly knew that liquor was being consumed by the driver and others in his company.*

"We hold that appellant assumed the risk attendant upon the journey, and that she was guilty of contributory negligence." (Emphasis ours.)

See to the same effect *Hemington v. Hemington*, 221 Mich. 206, 190 NW 683.

In *Packard v. Quesnel*, 112 Vt. 175, 22 A2d 164, the court said:

"Reason and authority alike support the rule that if a person voluntarily rides in an automobile

driven by one who is intoxicated and the passenger knows, or under the circumstances should have known, the intoxicated condition of the driver, he is precluded from recovering from such driver or a third person for injuries sustained in an accident if the intoxicated condition of the driver was the proximate cause or one of the proximate causes of the accident producing the injuries in question. * * *"

In a recent case from Colorado, the Supreme Court of that state said at p. 600 of 309 P.2d:

"From the facts herein related, which are undisputed, to the effect that plaintiff participated in what we will call a drinking party on the evening of the accident and imbibed freely from the intoxicating liquor that was about her before leaving on the trip during which the accident occurred, that she went so far as to offer some of her liquor to the driver, that she knew the driver and her companions were in a state of intoxication before starting on the disastrous journey, it is clear that plaintiff was contributorily negligent *and assumed the risk* of whatever might happen when she entered defendant's automobile with the other intoxicated occupants and continued on the trip in a party where sobriety was wholly absent. The motion for a directed verdict based upon the grounds just enumerated, should have been sustained and error of the trial court attached.

"Plaintiff while legally a minor, was 19 years old and possessed of the usual and ordinary faculties of an adult person and it may be assumed that she was fully capable of knowing, or

could anticipate, danger that might follow from the operation of the car due to the physical incapacity of the driver, and she made no effort to avoid the likelihood of the accident and it must be said that she assumed the risk, which bars her recovery.” (Emphasis ours.) *Hiller v. Gross*, (Colo.), 309 P.2d 598.

In the earlier case of *United Brotherhood of Carpenters and Joiners of America, Local Union No. 55 v. Salter*, (Colo.), 167 P.2d 954, the same court said:

“The effect of intoxicating liquor in depriving a driver of care and caution and inducing physical incapacity in the operation of a car is universally known and tragically illustrated almost daily. Where one becomes a guest and imprudently enters a car with knowledge that the driver is so under the influence of intoxicants as to tend to prevent him from exercising the care and caution which a sober and prudent man would employ in the operation and control of the car, the guest is barred from recovery by reason of his contributory negligence, and as having assumed the risk involved. Where the evidence of such fact is without conflict, plaintiff is barred from recovery as a matter of law. * * * Where the evidence is sufficient to raise a question as to plaintiff’s knowledge and prudence, the determination of that issue must be submitted to the jury or other trier of facts.

* * *

“It is a matter of common knowledge, that whatever may be the result in a particular case, the drinking of intoxicating liquors generally in-

creases the likelihood of negligent driving. Voluntarily becoming the guest of a driver who has been drinking intoxicants is analogous to becoming the guest of an operator who is known to have been a negligent driver.

“Where the guest has knowledge of substantial drinking of intoxicating liquor by the driver and there is evidence tending to show that such drinking was a contributing cause of the driver’s negligence, then the issue as to whether the guest was sufficiently forewarned so that under all the circumstances he was negligent in becoming or remaining a guest in the car should be submitted to the jury. He is not barred as a matter of law except where his knowledge of the physical incapacity of the driver and the surrounding circumstances are such that reasonable men could draw but one inference as to his negligence.

* * * The issue of assumption of risk should have been submitted to the jury.”

See also *Franco v. Vakares*, (Ariz.), 277 P. 812; *Smart v. Masker*, (Fla.), 113 So. 2d 414; *Herring v. Erland*, (Fla.), 81 So. 2nd 645; *William v. Owens*, 85 Ga. App. 549, 69 SE2d 787; *Besserman v. Hines*, 219 Ill. App. 606; *Krimse v. Chicago, T. H. & S. E. Ry. Co.*, 73 Ind. App. 537, 127 N.E. 837; *Saxton v. Rose*, (Miss.), 29 So.2d 646; and *Nardone v. Milton Fire Dist.*, 261 App. Div. 717, 27 NYS 2d 489.

In nearly all of the above cases the appellate court held, under the evidence, that *as a matter of law* plaintiff was debarred from recovery. We believe that the facts

of this case are equally strong, and that the trial court would have been amply justified in granting defendant's motion for directed verdict. However, it is not now necessary to go that far. It is sufficient to hold that the finding of the jury is supported by competent and substantial evidence.

The precise problem does not appear to have been previously presented to this court. However, in *Milligan v. Harward*, 11 Ut. 2d 74, 355 P2d 62, this court indicated by a strong dictum that it would follow the line of reasoning of the cases above quoted:

"Of course, if the plaintiff had known Harward was intoxicated at the time they embarked on the journey, he would probably be in the position of having assumed the risk."

A similar expression is found in the earlier case of *Balle v. Smith*, (Ut.), 17 P.2d 224:

"Where one rides with an intoxicated driver, or one who . . . drives at an excessive or unlawful rate of speed, and the guest, with knowledge of such condition of the driver or such negligent or unlawful acts without objection continues to ride in such automobile, and an accident happens which is caused or contributed to by such negligence cannot recover."

And in *Esernia v. Overland Moving Co.*, 120 Ut. 647, 206 P.2d 621, the same principle was applied to a plain-

tiff who rode and continued to ride with a driver, known by plaintiff to be in a sleepy condition. This court there held as a matter of law that plaintiff was debarred from recovery.

POINT III.

THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS TO THE JURY.

Although plaintiff asserts prejudicial error in the court's stock instruction to the jury, defining among other things, negligence and contributory negligence, counsel devotes only one short paragraph to the support of this proposition and cites not a single authority-statute, case or text, in support of his position. Therefore, the contention does not merit extensive treatment.

While it probably would have been better had the court omitted the instruction with reference to ordinary negligence and contributory negligence, no harm could possibly have come to either party, in view of the fact that the case was submitted to the jury upon special interrogatories, and the jury was specifically required to find on the issues of intoxication, wilful misconduct, and assumption of risk. Each of these doctrines was fully explained to the jury in other instructions. The doctrine of wilful misconduct was further explained by the court in response to a question put by the jury during the course of its deliberations. It is inconceivable on the record before the court, that the jury could have been misled by the surplusage of instructions defining negli-

gence and contributory negligence. We call the court's attention to the provisions of Rule 61, which reads as follows:

"No error in either the admission or the exclusion of evidence, and no error or defect in any ruling or order or in anything done or omitted by the court or by any of the parties, is ground for granting a new trial or otherwise disturbing a judgment or order, unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice. The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties."

The reasoning of this court in the recent Utah case of *Hadley v. Wood*, 9 Ut.2d 366, 345 P.2d 197, is applicable here. In that case the trial court withdrew from the jury the issue of contributory negligence by reason of plaintiff's tender years. However, the court gave an instruction to the jury to the effect that there could be more than one legal cause of an accident, notwithstanding that such instruction had become irrelevant in view of the withdrawal of the issue of contributory negligence from the jury. In holding that the presentation of the irrelevant instruction to the jury was harmless, this court said:

"Notwithstanding there is some justification for the charge that irrelevant instructions were given, if they are viewed as a whole, as they should be, the issues were presented to the jury

fully and fairly and in such a manner that we see no prejudice to the rights of the plaintiff."

CONCLUSION

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